

CLINICAL TRIAL PROTOCOL

STUDY TITLE

A Randomized Controlled Trial Comparing No Reduction to Closed

Reduction for Distal Radius Fractures in Patients 65 Years and Older (DISCLOSE trial)

REFERENCE NUMBERS

Research ethical approval: R25001 Tampere Ethics committee

ClinicalTrials.gov: NCT07042139

STUDY SPONSOR

Wellbeing Services County of Pirkanmaa (PIRHA), Finland

COMPLIANCE STATEMENT

This trial is to be conducted in compliance with this protocol and with the principles of Good Clinical Practice.



Contact details

Chief investigator/ Co-ordinating investigator

Name/title: Laura Kärnä, MD, Tampere University Hospital

Contact details: laura.karna@pirha.fi, +35840 7509986

Principal Investigators

Name(s)/ titles and contact details:

Laura Kärnä, Tampere University Hospital, Finland

Ponkilainen Ville, Co-PI, Tampere University Hospital, Finland

Aleksi Reito, Tampere University Hospital, Finland

Helle Østergaard, Viborg Regional Hospital, Denmark

Stig Brorson, Koge Zeeland University Hospital, Denmark

Kaspar Tootsi, Tarto University Hospital, Estonia

Katriina Paasikallio, Kuopio University Hospital, Finland

Tina Senholt, Viborg Regional Hospital, Denmark

Li Karolinska University Hospital, Sweden

Juuso Heikkinen, Oulu University Hospital, Finland

Juha Kukkonen, Pori Central Hospital, Finland

Jorma Ryhänen, Helsinki University Hospital, Finland

Robin Christensen, the Parker Institute, Bispebjerg and Frederiksberg Hospital and Odense University Hospital

Ville Mattila, Tampere University Hospital, Finland

Antti Launonen, Co-PI, Tampere University Hospital, Finland

Signatures

Laura Kärnä Ville Ponkilainen Antti Launonen



Document	Date of Issue	Summary of Change
Protocol version no.		
Original protocol 1.0 FINAL	6.7.2025	Not applicable



TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	BACKGROUND	5
1.1	OBJECTIVE	6
2	METHODS AND ANALYSIS	7
2.1	STUDY SETTING	7
2.2	PARTICIPANTS	7
2.3	Interventions	8
2.4	RANDOMIZATION	9
2.5	Intervention group (No reduction)	9
2.6	CONTROL GROUP (CLOSED REDUCTION)	9
2.7	OBSERVATIONAL ARM (NOT PART OF THE RANDOMISED EQUIVALENCE TRIAL)	10
2.8	REHABILITATION	10
3	PARTICIPANTTIMELINE	10
4	OUTCOMES AND ENDPOINTS	12
4.1	BASELINE DATA	12
4.2	PRIMARY ENDPOINT	12
4.3	KEY SECONDARY ENDPOINTS	13
4.4	OTHER ENDPOINTS	15
4.5	EXPLORATORY ENDPOINTS	15
5	SAMPLE SIZE	17
6	DATA COLLECTION	18
7	DATA ANALYSIS	18
8	BLINDED DATA INTERPRETATION	20
8.1	PATIENT AND PUBLIC INTERVENTION	20
8.2	Data management	21
9	References	24



1 BACKGROUND

Distal radius fractures (DRFs) are one of the most common fractures, occurring at a rate of 212 per 100,000 person-years. These fractures typically result from low-energy trauma, such as fall from standing height and are associated with age-related increases in frailty. As general life expectancy rises, so does the number of these fractures ²³, presenting a growing challenge in function and quality of life in both acute care and long-term management of the fracture. The majority of DRFs in patients aged 60 years or older are treated non-operatively due to a higher complication and reoperation rate without significantly better functional outcomes after surgery. ²⁴⁻⁶

Although anatomical alignment has traditionally been the primary goal of fracture reduction, evidence suggests that radiographic improvement is not necessarily associated with better functional outcomes, especially in older adults. Feen when closed reduction is initially successful and radiographic alignment is achieved, several studies suggest that alignment frequently deteriorates during follow-up, especially in elderly patients. Fee Especially radial shortening tends to return to the pre-reduction state by the time the cast is removed at 5-6 weeks, while dorsal angulation seems to be maintained better. Reported total loss of reduction in adult patients with DRF range from 12 % to 100% 12-15 20 22 24 27, with patients aged 60 years or more having the highest rates (40% to 100%). Despite the fact that reduction is nearly always lost, in a Finnish registry study, the incidence of corrective osteotomies is very low (0.3-0.7/100000 per person-years), especially in patients 65 years or older.

Patients often perceive closed reduction as a painful and uncomfortable procedure.³⁰ Studies show that closed reduction increases pain when compared to casting alone in patients



awaiting surgery for DRFs.³¹ There is also evidence that pain during closed reduction can decrease overall satisfaction and compliance with treatment.³²

There is limited evidence regarding whether the closed reduction of DRFs in elderly patients improves clinical outcomes since only one randomized controlled trial has been published to compare closed reduction and casting to casting alone. In 1997, Kelly et al. reported no difference in functional outcomes between groups despite improved radiographic measures in the closed reduction group.²⁶ Since radiographic measures do not correlate to functional outcomes, it is uncertain whether the routine use of closed reduction in DRF is effective in improving functional outcomes and patient satisfaction in patients aged 65 or more.⁷

1.1 Objective

To evaluate whether casting without prior closed reduction is equivalent to casting following closed reduction with respect to wrist-related pain and disability, as measured by the Patient-Rated Wrist Evaluation (PRWE) score at 12 months, in patients aged 65 years or older with a displaced distal radius fracture.



2 METHODS AND ANALYSIS

2.1 Study setting

We will conduct a multicenter randomized controlled equivalence trial. We will also include a prospective observational group for eligible patients who decline participation in the randomization. The study will be conducted across multiple study centers located in Finland, Denmark, Sweden, and Estonia.

2.2 Participants

The study population will include patients aged 65 years or older having displaced distal radius fractures.

2.2.1 Inclusion criteria:

- Age 65 years or older
- Independent living patients
- Displaced distal radius fracture (AO/OTA 23A/23C) with 15-40 degree dorsal angulation; and/or shortening of the radius for more than 2 mm.
 - Associated ulnar styloid fracture is permitted
- Low energy injury, (fall from ≤1 m)

2.2.2 Exclusion criteria:

- Patient unable to provide consent
- Patients who are actively working in a paid position
- Volar angulation, partial articular fractures (AO/OTA 23B)



- Concomitant fracture of the ulna proximal to the base of the styloid process
- Associated fracture or dislocation in any other body part that would affect the use of the injured distal radius
- Distal radius fractures in both arms
- Open injury, Gustilo 2 or higher
- No bony contact between the main fragments
- High energy injuries

2.3 Interventions

Participants eligible for this trial will be recruited by orthopaedic residents/surgeons and emergency medicine doctors (recruiting personnel) in the emergency room. Eligible patients will be provided with a participant information sheet and given enough time to evaluate their willingness to participate and to ask questions about the trial. Patients who decline to be included in the randomized cohort of the study will be invited to participate in the observational cohort. Written consent will be obtained prior to inclusion in both study cohorts.



2.4 Randomization

Randomization will occur immediately after the written consent has been achieved in the emergency room. Randomization will be done using an online randomization system, Redcap. Randomization will be stratified by patients age (65-74 years and >74 years) and country using variable block sizes ranging from 2 to 6 and a 1:1 allocation ratio. The allocation sequence will be concealed from all study personnel through the use of an online randomization system.

2.5 Intervention group (No reduction)

A dorsal cast is applied to the patient's wrist after the initial radiograph in the no-reduction group. Following casting, a control radiograph is taken. Active range of motion exercises for the fingers and light use of the hand are recommended immediately.

2.6 Control group (Closed reduction)

Distal radius fracture reduction is performed in the emergency department under local anaesthetic infiltration, using lidocaine into the fracture site. The closed reduction is performed by the treating physician using their usual technique. Re-attempts at reduction are allowed in accordance with local practice. Post-reduction radiographs are taken to assess fracture alignment, although the findings do not influence the patient's treatment.

In both groups, the cast will be removed after 5 weeks at either the health center or the hospital's outpatient clinic, in accordance with the local treatment protocol. Following cast



removal, patients will be advised to resume everyday use of the injured wrist without restrictions. No radiographs will be taken during the casting period or before the 3-month follow-up.

2.7 Observational arm (not part of the randomised equivalence trial)

Eligible patients who decline participation in the randomization will be offered the opportunity to join an observational group. The patients will receive standard care (closed reduction and casting) and will provide consent for follow-up. The reduction of DRF is performed in the emergency department and post-reduction radiographs will be taken. Observational groups are treated according to local treatment protocols. Patients in the observational cohort will be followed at the same time points using the same outcome measures as the randomized group. Study follow-up of the observational group will be organized through remote controls.

2.8 Rehabilitation

All groups will receive a similar home exercise protocol. Outpatient physiotherapy and occupational therapy will be allowed according to the local practice.

3 PARTICIPANT TIMELINE

The schedule for enrollment, interventions and follow-up visits are presented in Table 1.

Participants will not be blinded due to the nature of the intervention. Recruiting personnel will only have access to the randomization module within the electronic REDCap software. The



outcome assessors (study nurse or orthopaedic resident or specialist) who collect the baseline data and outcome measures from follow-up visits will be blinded from the randomization result. Study personnel involved in follow-up visits will remain blinded to the randomization results, as the result is hidden in REDCap.

Participants will meet a research personnel or coordinator study nurse at the 3 and 12-month time point. At 3 months' time point, radiographs are taken. No additional radiographic follow-ups are organized. Follow-up appointments are carried out according to the participants' preference: All patients are invited to attend an in-person follow-up visit; however, if they decline, the follow-up will be conducted remotely via phone or via email link by a blinded study nurse. In the remote option, the accelerometer wristbands will be sent to the participants by mail. By offering a remote option, we aim to minimize the loss to follow-up. Participants will receive follow-up questionnaires via email or mail prior to their follow-up appointment. If they decline to complete the questionnaires, outcomes will be collected through a phone interview. The research data will be saved in a database with an online patient management program, REDCap. The 5-year follow-ups will be conducted by sending questionnaires via email or mail; if participants decline, outcomes will be collected through a phone interview.

All patients with unsettling symptoms will undergo physiotherapy rehabilitation for up to a year, as in standard care. If the symptoms do not improve during this time, the patient will be referred to an orthopaedic or hand surgeon for evaluation, where necessary procedures, such as a CT scan and, in cases of symptomatic malunion or nonunion, corrective osteotomy, will be considered.



4 OUTCOMES AND ENDPOINTS

4.1 Baseline data

Baseline variables will be collected by study personnel via phone within two working days following randomization. The study personnel will remain blinded to the randomization results.

Baseline variables include age, gender, hand dominance (right/left), height, weight, fracture type, smoking (yes/no), diabetes (yes/no), rheumatoid arthritis (yes/no), osteoporosis (yes/no), previous fractures in same wrist, use of analgesics and use of glucocorticoid treatment (yes/no), use of osteoporosis treatment (yes/no). Radiographic outcomes (dorsal angulation, ulnar variance, radial inclination, intra-articular gap) will be measured from the initial radiographs at baseline. Patient-Rated Wrist Evaluation (PRWE), Pain NRS, and EQ-5D-5L Index will be collected at baseline via phone, with patients asked to recall their status prior to the fracture (Appendix 1). Patient frailty will be assessed at baseline using the Clinical Frailty Scale (CFS)³³, as rated by the study nurse.

4.2 Primary endpoint

The primary outcome will be the Patient Rated Wrist Evaluation (PRWE) at 12 months.³⁴ PRWE is a 15-item questionnaire designed to measure wrist pain and disability in activities of daily living. The validity, reliability, and responsiveness of the questionnaire have been reported to be high for assessing the outcomes after distal radius fractures.³⁵⁻³⁷ The questionnaire consists of two subscales (pain and function), and the score ranges from 0 (no disability) to



100 (severe disability). The minimal clinically important difference (MCID) in the PRWE is 11 points.³⁸ The validity and reliability of the Finnish PRWE are acceptable in patients with DRF.³⁷

4.3 Key secondary endpoints

4.3.1 PRWE

PRWE is additionally measured at 3 months.

4.3.2 Pain

The Numeric Rating Scale (NRS) for Pain is a validated 11-point numerical rating scale for acute and chronic pain with terminal descriptors of 0 (no pain) and 10 (worst pain possible). ³⁹
⁴⁰ Patients will be asked to evaluate the perceived pain during the last 7 days. Pain will be assessed at 3-months and 1-year.

4.3.3 Patient-acceptable symptom state

Patient satisfaction will be measured using the patient-acceptable symptom state (PASS).⁴¹
Considering all the different ways your injury is affecting you, if you would remain in this state, do you feel that your current state is satisfactory (Yes/No)? PASS will be assessed at 3-month and 1 year. Patient satisfaction will be reported as percentage of patients with acceptable PASS.

4.3.4 Quality of life

EuroQol 5-dimension 5-level health-related quality of life questionnaire (EQ-5D-5L Index) is a general measure of health-related quality of life that has been validated for assessing quality of life in patients with upper extremity disorders. 42-44 Quality of life will be assessed at 3-months and 1-year.



4.3.5 Serious adverse events

Serious adverse events include, but are not limited to: late surgical interventions such as corrective osteotomy or internal fixation due to symptomatic nonunion; tendon repair; carpal tunnel release; acute nerve injury confirmed by electroneuromyography; and any other adverse event that results in hospitalisation, prolongation of existing hospitalisation, is lifethreatening, or leads to persistent or significant disability (for example Complex Regional Pain Syndrome) or incapacity. Serious adverse events will be assessed at 3- and 12-months timepoints.

Asymptomatic malunion is not an adverse event, as most patients who undergo closed reduction after distal radius fracture develop malunion. 10 26 29 Symptomatic nonunion is defined as the presence of significant pain accompanied by the absence of a bony bridge on CT images. If a patient develops a symptomatic nonunion, a CT-scan will be taken at the 1-year time point in accordance with the standard treatment protocol.

4.3.6 Cosmesis

Participants are asked a question about wrist cosmesis: Does the appearance of the wrist bother you? (yes/no). Cosmesis will be assessed at 3-month time point.



4.4 Other endpoints

4.4.1 Radiographic measurements

Radiographic parameters are collected from radiographs taken at baseline and after casting, in accordance with the local treatment protocol. Control radiographs are taken at a 3-month time point, where we measure the loss of reduction and compare the final measurements between the groups. If a patient develops a symptomatic mal- or nonunion, a CT scan is taken at a 1-year time point, in accordance with the standard treatment protocol (*Appendix 2*). Radiographic measurements will include dorsal angulation (degrees), ulnar variance (mm), radial inclination (degrees) and intra-articular gap (mm).

4.5 Exploratory endpoints

All exploratory endpoints are published in separate publications.

4.5.1 5 year follow-up

PRWE, Pain (NRS), quality of life, patient satisfaction, serious adverse events and mortality will be assessed at 5 years and are exploratory endpoints.

4.5.2 Tri-Axial Accelerometry

The upper-limb physical activity of the participants will be measured using a tri-axial (Axivity Ltd, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK) accelerometer. Activity is divided into four activity levels (inactivity, light, moderate and vigorous), and also sleeping time is counted and recorded. The participants will have an accelerometer sensor mounted on both wrists with a wristband. This



allows us to assess the asymmetry between the fractured and non-fractured arm. Patients in both groups are advised to use sensors for 7 days in 3- and 12-month follow-ups.

4.5.3 Mortality

All-cause mortality data will be collected from medical health records at the 5-year follow-up.

4.5.4 Cost-effectiveness

Included unit cost components include hospital stays and outpatient visits, including imaging, surgical and anesthetic procedures, physiotherapy, complication management and re-operations and cast changes. Costs will be obtained directly from patients through questionnaires administered at the 3-month and 1-year follow-up, and from medical records. Cost data will be derived from the NordDRG classification system. Using the mean costs and mean health outcomes for each cohort, the incremental cost per quality-adjusted life-year (QALY) gained will be calculated.

4.5.5 DXA – Bone density scan (not part of the equivalence trial)

At selected sites, a subgroup of patients will be formed, from whom bone density Z-scores will be collected at 6 months. Results above -1 SD are regarded as normal. -1 to -2.5 SD are osteopenic, with reduced bone mineral density, and -2.5 SD and less are osteoporotic. DXA scans are used to assess bone mineral density (BMD), which provides information about bone strength and fracture risk. DXA data allows the stratification of participants based on



their underlying bone health (e.g., normal BMD, osteopenia, or osteoporosis). DXA data will be used to analyze incidence of osteoporosis and the correlation between bone density and loss of fracture reduction in patients with distal radius fractures. This data will be analyzed in separate publication.

5 SAMPLE SIZE

The sample size was determined based on an equivalence design, with an equal allocation ratio (1:1). We set the significance level (α) at 0.05, allowing a 5% probability of a Type I error. The power of the study was set at 90% (β = 0.1), corresponding to a 10% probability of a Type II error. The standard deviation of the outcome (PRWE) variable was estimated to be 21, based on previous studies. 922 45 46.

Based on the familiar minimal important difference (MID) for PRWE of 11.5 points, the equivalence margin was set at 6 units (half of MID), representing the maximum acceptable difference in means between the groups to still consider the groups as equivalent. This margin was intentionally set below the MID of PRWE to detect smaller differences, given the similar nature and cost of the two treatment approaches.

Using these parameters, a total sample size of 532 participants (266 per group) will provide 90% power to demonstrate equivalence between groups on the primary endpoint, assuming a true mean difference of < 0.01, a common standard deviation of 21, and equivalence margins of –6 to 6 on the PRWE score. The calculation was based on a 2-sided 90% confidence interval (α = 0.05) and used the exact method for two-sample means under normal distribution assumptions.



6 DATA COLLECTION

Primary data collection is conducted by the study personnel, who enters the data into an electronic system (REDCap) based on a phone interview or, if a patient prefers- through the email link. All patients who attend an in-person follow-up visit will enter the data at the visit, while data for patients participating in remote follow-ups will be collected by study personnel via phone or through an e-mail link, based on their preference. These different follow-up options will be offered to minimize missing data.

7 DATA ANALYSIS

The primary hypothesis is that patients aged 65 and older with displaced distal radius fractures treated non-operatively with casting alone (without closed reduction) will have clinically equivalent-functional outcomes, as measured by the PRWE score at 12 months post-injury, compared to those treated with closed reduction and casting.

All primary and secondary analyses will follow the intention-to-treat principle. The findings will be presented in accordance with the Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials (CONSORT) guidelines. ⁴⁷ The main comparison, PRWE total score between the study groups, will be analyzed using a repeated-measures mixed model (RMMM). Fixed factors in the analysis will include the study group and assessment time, while patients will be treated as random factors. The analysis will also incorporate interaction between the study group and the assessment time. The results will be presented as mean with 95% confidence intervals (CI) at 12 months following randomization. Missing data for continuous outcome measures will be handled using a mixed-effects linear model approach, assuming data are missing at random, consistent with the underlying assumption of these models⁴⁸. For dichotomous



outcomes, missing data will be addressed using nonresponse imputation, in which patients who withdrew or did not provide a response will be considered non-responders.

Categorical endpoints will be analysed for each individual timepoint by logistical regression using randomised treatment, stratification groups as factors, and the baseline endpoint value as a covariate. For categorical efficacy outcomes, missing data will be addressed using nonresponse imputation, in which patients who withdrew or did not provide a response will be considered non-responders. The secondary analyses will serve only as supportive, explanatory, or hypothesis-generating. Serious adverse events will be reported in a descriptive manner.

We will perform a series of sensitivity analyses to evaluate the robustness of the results to departures from the assumptions underlying the statistical analyses described below ⁴⁹. Because some patients are likely to experience important intercurrent events (e.g., undergoing surgery within the first 12 months from baseline; i.e., referred to as crossovers), sensitivity analyses will explore whether different assumptions about missing data could affect the conclusions ⁵⁰: For example, we will apply the hypothetical estimand, which corresponds to a while-on-randomized-treatment strategy. This approach aims to estimate the effect of the interventions up to, but not beyond, the occurrence of an intercurrent event. Specifically, the outcome value(s) prior to the intercurrent event will be used for analysis.

Among the prespecified ancillary analyses is an exploration of whether age group and sex modify the effect of treatment on the primary endpoint at 12 months. Specifically, outcomes will be compared between patients aged <75 years and ≥75 years, and between males and females



The observational cohort will be analyzed independently, employing statistical methods similar to those used for RCT study groups. 5-year results will be presented as a separate publication.

8 BLINDED DATA INTERPRETATION

To minimize the risk of biased interpretation, the results of this trial will be reported using a blinded data interpretation process ⁵¹. Before reviewing the primary outcome data, the writing committee will prepare a "Background Assumptions" document outlining their predefined MIDs for the outcome measures, along with a brief summary of the planned statistical analyses. This document will be signed by all members of the writing committee and included as an appendix to the main publication.

Following this, the committee will conduct two separate interpretations of the primary outcome data, first assuming that Treatment A represents the no reduction group, and then assuming that Treatment A represents the closed reduction group. All decisions regarding key analyses and the format for presenting the primary results will be made prior to unblinding. These decisions, along with the meeting minutes, will be formally recorded, signed by the writing committee, and published as an appendix to the primary report.

8.1 Patient and Public Intervention

Patient and Public Involvement (PPI) was conducted in collaboration with Pirkanmaa Bone Association, following the GRIPP2 reporting checklist (Appendix 3). During a dedicated



meeting with association members, both primary and secondary outcomes were thoroughly reviewed. Pain and functional ability in daily tasks were identified as top priorities. Based on discussions with the association members, maximum grip strength was excluded from the outcomes, as it was not considered to have significant relevance to daily life. While the outcomes were considered appropriate, early recognition of pain emerged as a concern. In response, we improved the visibility of contact information to ensure patients know where to seek assistance in cases of severe wrist pain. To maintain ongoing patient and public engagement, we collaborated with a permanent PPI representative throughout the entire study period.

8.2 Data management

Each patient will be assigned a unique trial identification number (TIN) matched with the patient's personal identification number (ID). This is assigned when the patient has signed informed consent, and TINs are consecutive and never reused. The research data will only be handled with a TIN throughout the trial. For patients recruited in Tampere University Hospital, Patient personal ID is stored in the electronic secure server LOKERO at. Each research center has its code keys for its own patients, which only the centers themselves have access to ensure patient confidentiality. All research data will be saved on a database with an online patient management program REDCap (Research Electronic Data Capture, https://www.project-redcap.org/) and secured by two-factor authentication. Only trial researchers will have access to the REDCap data located on a secure study server at Tampere University Hospital. This approach ensures patient de-identification and guarantees



that individual identities will remain protected, even in the event of unauthorized access to the server data. The research data that study personnel use on the server will contain only deidentified TINs with a set of numbers acquired from the questionnaires, i.e., each question will be answered with a number. Patients e-mail is matched to patient's TIN to have the remote option (via email) to be available.

All primary and secondary data will be acquired and stored on the study server. Follow-up data will be entered either directly by patients, during visits using a tablet or remotely via an email link, or by a researcher or study nurse when questionnaires are returned by mail or completed through phone interviews. Patient-reported outcome data will be entered directly into the REDCap system by the patients using the "required fields" option activated to ensure there are no missing items from the completed questionnaires. Researchers from each participating hospital will have access to the secure study server where the trial research data is stored. An information security committee has approved the server at Tampere University Hospital.

The copyright of the trial research data will be owned and created by the collaboration parties. The data will be shared freely among the collaboration parties. All participating researchers will have access to the data after the trial. Due to EU General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), public data sharing will be restricted until primary analysis and publication have been completed. Under certain circumstances, e.g., when a new member joins the collaboration, we will grant access to the data. All data will be stored for 15 years after the end of the trial.



A Data Safety Monitoring Board (DSMB) will oversee the study to ensure the rights, safety and well-being of participants throughout the trial. Monitoring will be conducted according to a pre-approved monitoring plan and in compliance with the principles of Good Clinical Practice (ICH GCP 5.18). The monitor will assess whether the trial is conducted, documented and reported in accordance with the protocol, regulatory requirements and applicable guidelines.



9 REFERENCES

- 1. Ponkilainen V, Kuitunen I, Liukkonen R, et al. The incidence of musculoskeletal injuries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Bone & joint research* 2022;11(11):814-25.
- Rundgren J, Bojan A, Mellstrand Navarro C, et al. Epidemiology, classification, treatment and mortality of distal radius fractures in adults: an observational study of 23,394 fractures from the national Swedish fracture register. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord* 2020;21(1):88. doi: 10.1186/s12891-020-3097-8 [published Online First: 20200208]
- 3. Jerrhag D, Englund M, Karlsson MK, et al. Epidemiology and time trends of distal forearm fractures in adults-a study of 11.2 million person-years in Sweden. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord* 2017;18(1):1-8.
- 4. Viberg B, Tofte S, Rønnegaard AB, et al. Changes in the incidence and treatment of distal radius fractures in adults—a 22-year nationwide register study of 276,145 fractures. *Injury* 2023;54(7):110802.
- 5. Raudasoja L, Vastamäki H, Aspinen S, et al. Distal radial fractures: a nationwide register study on corrective osteotomies after malunion. *Journal of Hand Surgery (European Volume)* 2024;49(3):329-33.
- 6. Michael R, Nakhouzi A, Kahhaleh E, et al. Volar locking plating compared to conservative treatment in distal radius fractures in elderly patients (> 60 years old): a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Journal of hand surgery global online* 2023;5(5):589-94.
- 7. Plant CE, Parsons NR, Costa ML. Do radiological and functional outcomes correlate for fractures of the distal radius? *The bone & joint journal* 2017;99(3):376-82.
- 8. Tsukazaki T, Takagi K, Iwasaki K. Poor correlation between functional results and radiographic findings in Colles' fracture. *The Journal of Hand Surgery: British & European Volume* 1993;18(5):588-91.
- 9. Lawson A, Naylor J, Mittal R, et al. Does radiographic alignment correlate with patient-reported functional outcomes and posttreatment complications in older patients treated for wrist fractures? *The Journal of Hand Surgery* 2023;48(6):533-43.
- 10. Hassellund SS, Oftebro I, Williksen JH, et al. Closed reduction of dorsally displaced distal radius fractures in the elderly provided improved final radiographic results. *Journal of Orthopaedic Surgery and Research* 2023;18(1):247.
- 11. Neidenbach P, Audigé L, Wilhelmi-Mock M, et al. The efficacy of closed reduction in displaced distal radius fractures. *Injury* 2010;41(6):592-98.
- 12. Arora R, Lutz M, Deml C, et al. A prospective randomized trial comparing nonoperative treatment with volar locking plate fixation for displaced and unstable distal radial fractures in patients sixty-five years of age and older. *JBJS* 2011;93(23):2146-53.
- 13. Tahir M, Khan Zimri F, Ahmed N, et al. Plaster immobilization versus anterior plating for dorsally displaced distal radial fractures in elderly patients in Pakistan. *Journal of Hand Surgery* (European Volume) 2021;46(6):647-53.
- 14. Sharma H, Khare GN, Singh S, et al. Outcomes and complications of fractures of distal radius (AO type B and C): volar plating versus nonoperative treatment. *Journal of Orthopaedic science* 2014;19:537-44.
- 15. Sirniö K, Leppilahti J, Ohtonen P, et al. Early palmar plate fixation of distal radius fractures may benefit patients aged 50 years or older: a randomized trial comparing 2 different treatment protocols. *Acta orthopaedica* 2019;90(2):123-28.
- 16. Mulders MA, Walenkamp MM, van Dieren S, et al. Volar plate fixation versus plaster immobilization in acceptably reduced extra-articular distal radial fractures: a multicenter randomized controlled trial. *JBJS* 2019;101(9):787-96.



- 17. Martinez-Mendez D, Lizaur-Utrilla A, de-Juan-Herrero J. Intra-articular distal radius fractures in elderly patients: a randomized prospective study of casting versus volar plating. *Journal of Hand Surgery (European Volume)* 2018;43(2):142-47.
- 18. Saving J, Wahlgren SS, Olsson K, et al. Nonoperative treatment compared with volar locking plate fixation for dorsally displaced distal radial fractures in the elderly: a randomized controlled trial. *JBJS* 2019;101(11):961-69.
- 19. Földhazy Z, Ahrengart L. External fixation versus closed treatment of displaced distal radial fractures in elderly patients: a randomized controlled trial. *Current Orthopaedic Practice* 2010;21(3):288-95.
- 20. Kumar N, Prasad M. Tillaux Fracture of the Ankle in an Adult: A Rare Injury. *The Journal of Foot and Ankle Surgery* 2014;53(6):757-58. doi: https://doi.org/10.1053/j.jfas.2014.06.010
- 21. Howard P, Stewart H, Hind R, et al. External fixation or plaster for severely displaced comminuted Colles' fractures? A prospective study of anatomical and functional results. *JBJS (Br)* 1989;71(1):68-73.
- 22. Costa ML, Achten J, Ooms A, et al. Surgical fixation with K-wires versus casting in adults with fracture of distal radius: DRAFFT2 multicentre randomised clinical trial. *BMJ* 2022;376
- 23. Plant CE, Ooms A, Cook JA, et al. Radiological outcomes following surgical fixation with wires versus moulded cast for patients with a dorsally displaced fracture of the distal radius: a radiographic analysis from the DRAFFT2 trial. *Bone & Joint Open* 2024;5(2):132.
- 24. Barvelink B, Reijman M, Smidt S, et al. Redisplacement of reduced distal radius fractures in adults: does the type of casting play a role? The CAST study, a multicentre cluster randomized controlled trial. *The Bone & Joint Journal* 2024;106(7):696-704.
- 25. Raittio L, Launonen AP, Hevonkorpi T, et al. Two casting methods compared in patients with Colles' fracture: A pragmatic, randomized controlled trial. *PLoS One* 2020;15(5):e0232153.
- 26. Kelly A, Warwick D, Crichlow T, et al. Is manipulation of moderately displaced Colles' fracture worthwhile? A prospective randomized trial. *Injury* 1997;28(4):283-87.
- 27. Grafstein E, Stenstrom R, Christenson J, et al. A prospective randomized controlled trial comparing circumferential casting and splinting in displaced Colles fractures. *Canadian Journal of Emergency Medicine* 2010;12(3):192-200.
- 28. Walenkamp MM, Mulders MA, van Hilst J, et al. Prediction of distal radius fracture redisplacement: a validation study. *J Orthop Trauma* 2018;32(3):e92-e96.
- 29. Makhni EC, Ewald TJ, Kelly S, et al. Effect of patient age on the radiographic outcomes of distal radius fractures subject to nonoperative treatment. *The Journal of hand surgery* 2008;33(8):1301-08.
- 30. Jensen CM, Østervang C, Lange KH, et al. Adult Patients' Experiences of Closed Reduction Treatment for Distal Radius Fracture in the Emergency Department-A Qualitative Descriptive Study. *J Emerg Nurs* 2025;51(1):79-87.
- 31. Löw S, Papay M, Eingartner C. Pain perception following initial closed reduction in the preoperative care of unstable, dorsally displaced distal radius fractures. *Journal of Hand and Microsurgery* 2019;11(02):111-16.
- 32. MacDermid JC, Roth JH, Richards RS. Pain and disability reported in the year following a distal radius fracture: a cohort study. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord* 2003;4:1-13.
- 33. Rockwood K, Song X, MacKnight C, et al. A global clinical measure of fitness and frailty in elderly people. *CMAJ* 2005;173(5):489-95.
- 34. MacDermid JC. Development of a scale for patient rating of wrist pain and disability. *Journal of Hand Therapy* 1996
- 35. MacDermid JC, Turgeon T, Richards RS, et al. Patient rating of wrist pain and disability: a reliable and valid measurement tool. *J Orthop Trauma* 1998;12(8):577-86.



- 36. MacDermid JC, Richards RS, Donner A, et al. Responsiveness of the short form-36, disability of the arm, shoulder, and hand questionnaire, patient-rated wrist evaluation, and physical impairment measurements in evaluating recovery after a distal radius fracture. *The Journal of hand surgery* 2000;25(2):330-40.
- 37. Sandelin H, Jalanko T, Huhtala H, et al. Translation and validation of the Finnish version of the patient-rated wrist evaluation questionnaire (PRWE) in patients with acute distal radius fracture. *Scandinavian Journal of Surgery* 2016;105(3):204-10.
- 38. Walenkamp MM, de Muinck Keizer R-J, Goslings JC, et al. The minimum clinically important difference of the patient-rated wrist evaluation score for patients with distal radius fractures. *Clin Orthop Relat Res* 2015;473:3235-41.
- 39. Bijur PE, Latimer CT, Gallagher EJ. Validation of a verbally administered numerical rating scale of acute pain for use in the emergency department. *Acad Emerg Med* 2003;10(4):390-92.
- 40. Ferreira-Valente MA, Pais-Ribeiro JL, Jensen MP. Validity of four pain intensity rating scales. *Pain*® 2011;152(10):2399-404.
- 41. Kvien TK, Heiberg T, Hagen KB. Minimal clinically important improvement/difference (MCII/MCID) and patient acceptable symptom state (PASS): what do these concepts mean? *Annals of the rheumatic diseases* 2007;66(suppl 3):iii40-iii41.
- 42. Grobet C, Marks M, Tecklenburg L, et al. Application and measurement properties of EQ-5D to measure quality of life in patients with upper extremity orthopaedic disorders: a systematic literature review. *Arch Orthop Trauma Surg* 2018;138:953-61.
- 43. Rundgren J, Enocson A, Mellstrand Navarro C, et al. Responsiveness of EQ-5D in patients with a distal radius fracture. *Hand* 2018;13(5):572-80.
- 44. Walters SJ, Brazier JE. Comparison of the minimally important difference for two health state utility measures: EQ-5D and SF-6D. *Quality of life research* 2005;14:1523-32.
- 45. Lawson A, Naylor JM, Buchbinder R, et al. Surgical Plating vs Closed Reduction for Fractures in the Distal Radius in Older Patients: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA Surg* 2021;156(3):229-37. doi: 10.1001/jamasurg.2020.5672
- 46. Ochen Y, Peek J, van der Velde D, et al. Operative vs Nonoperative Treatment of Distal Radius Fractures in Adults: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *JAMA Network Open* 2020;3(4):e203497-e97. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.3497
- 47. Moher D, Hopewell S, Schulz KF, et al. CONSORT 2010 statement: updated guidelines for reporting parallel group randomised trials. *BMJ (Clinical research ed)* 2010;340:c332.
- 48. Detry MA, Ma Y. Analyzing Repeated Measurements Using Mixed Models. *JAMA* 2016;315(4):407-08. doi: 10.1001/jama.2015.19394
- 49. Christensen R, Ranstam J, Overgaard S, et al. Guidelines for a structured manuscript: statistical methods and reporting in biomedical research journals. *Acta Orthopaedica* 2023;94:243.
- 50. Kahan BC, Hindley J, Edwards M, et al. The estimands framework: a primer on the ICH E9 (R1) addendum. *BMJ* 2024;384
- 51. Järvinen TL, Sihvonen R, Bhandari M, et al. Blinded interpretation of study results can feasibly and effectively diminish interpretation bias. *J Clin Epidemiol* 2014;67(7):769-72. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2013.11.011 [published Online First: 20140220]